06/13/2018

Ed Smith
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 18-0110

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 18-0110

MONTANA ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION CENTER and SIERRA CLUB,

Plaintiffs and Appellees,

V.

MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY,

Defendant and Appellant

And

WESTERN ENERGY COMPANY,

Defendant and Appellants.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County, The Honorable Kathy Seeley, Presiding

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the District Court erroneously determine that DEQ's decision to renew Montana Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (MPDES) Permit No. MT0023965 with permit effluent limits based on Administrative Rule of Montana (ARM) 17.30.637(4) applicable to ephemeral streams rather than the specific water quality standards set forth in ARM 17.30.629(2) constituted an unlawful reclassification of the receiving waters?
- 2. Did the District Court erroneously determine that DEQ's monitoring requirements for precipitation-driven discharges from the Rosebud Mine, authorized under MPDES Permit No. MT0023965, were arbitrary and capricious by allowing monitoring from representative outfalls rather than from all active outfalls that may discharge during a precipitation event?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Montana Environmental Information Center and Sierra Club (collectively "MEIC") challenged DEQ's administrative decision to renew MPDES Permit No. MT0023965 (hereinafter "the Permit") to Western Energy Company ("WECo"), effective November 1, 2012. The November 1, 2012 permitting decision was a renewal of the Permit. The Permit authorizes discharges of mine process water and storm water from WECo's Rosebud coal mine near Colstrip, Montana to several tributaries to the Yellowstone River including East Fork Armells Creek.

At the time of the 2012 Permit renewal¹, DEQ had determined that all waters receiving discharges authorized by the Permit met the definition of "ephemeral streams" that flow only in direct response to precipitation in the immediate watershed or in response to the melting of a cover of snow and ice and whose channel bottom is always above the local water table. ARM 17.30.602(10); Administrative Record (A.R.) at 9162. In its December 21, 2012 Verified Complaint and Application for Writ of Mandate and Declaratory Relief, MEIC alleged, among other theories, that DEQ: 1) unlawfully downgraded the receiving waters (classified as C-3 pursuant to ARM 17.30.611(1)(c)) without first conducting a Use Attainability Analysis by treating the waters as ephemeral and subject to ARM 17.30.637(4); and 2) failed to require monitoring that ensures compliance with the Permit and water quality standards by allowing representative sampling of outfalls for precipitationdriven discharges.

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment, the motions were fully

¹ WECo applied for a second modification to the Permit after a hydrologic assessment of East Fork Armells Creek indicated that a portion of that stream, located in Mine Area B East between outfalls 16A and 9 may be intermittent. Modification 2 to the Permit would apply water quality based effluent limits based on ARM 17.30.629(2) to outfalls discharging to the intermittent stream segment for pollutants of concern with reasonable potential to exceed water quality standards.

² DEQ will refer to documents in the record of the District Court by their sequence number in the District Court Register Report, which was transmitted to this Court on March 26, 2018 and amended by stipulation of the parties to this appeal on April 12, 2018. The Administrative Record ("A.R.") was submitted to the district court on a compact disk and attached to the Affidavit of Melissa Sjolund, Document Seq. No. 22, as Attachment A. The A.R. (Attachment A to Document Seq. No. 22) was submitted to this Court on April 12, 2018, as an amendment to the District Court's record, which was submitted on March 26, 2018, without the compact disk.

briefed and oral argument was held before the District Court on April 22, 2015. The district court entered its Memorandum and Order on Judicial Review on March 14, 2016 ("Order"), granting MEIC's motion for summary judgement and denying DEQ and WECo's motions for summary judgment. *See* Order, Document Seq. No. 54 (a copy of which is included in the Appendix).

The District Court invalidated the Permit and remanded the Permit to DEQ for reconsideration. The District Court further held that the C-3 classified receiving waters could not be treated as ephemeral without reclassification through a use attainability analysis and DEQ's representative sampling plan for precipitation-driven discharges was arbitrary and capricious and inadequate to ensure compliance with the Permit. *See* Order, Document Seq. No. 54, pages 18, 23 - 24. DEQ timely appealed the district court's Order and seeks this Court's determination that the Permit lawfully applied water quality standards set forth in ARM 17.30.637(4) to ephemeral receiving waters and lawfully incorporated a sampling and monitoring program that is representative of the precipitation-driven discharges from the Rosebud Mine.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following facts are relevant to the issues presented to this Court for review. MEIC challenged DEQ's 2012 renewal of the Permit, issued on September 14, 2012. See Verified Complaint and Application for Writ of Mandate and

Declaratory Relief, Document Seq. No. 1; and the A.R., Document Seq. No. 22, Attachment A, at page 805. The 2012 Permit is a renewal of Permit No. MT0023965, issued November 8, 1999, and effective December 1, 1999. Both the 2012 and the 1999 versions of the Permit authorize WECo to discharge mine process water and storm water from the Rosebud coal mine to state surface waters subject to the limitations and conditions contained in the Permit. *See* A.R., page 805.

The Rosebud coal mine is a surface coal mine where coal is extracted via the strip-mine method including using draglines, overburden removal, and trucks and mechanical shovels. At the time of development of the 2012 Permit, the Rosebud Mine included 25,600 permitted acres. *See* A.R. at 987. The coal seam at the Rosebud mine is approximately 100 feet below the ground surface, and is, on average, twenty-four feet thick. During active coal mining, topsoil is removed and stored for future reclamation of mined areas. The overburden is then blasted and removed, exposing the coal seam. After the coal is mined, the overburden is returned to fill the pit. The overburden is graded to approximate the original land contours and then scarified to reduce compaction. The topsoil is replaced on top of the regraded pit and is revegetated. *See* A.R., page 914 - 915.

De-watering is required during active mining, as groundwater and runoff from precipitation infiltrate the pit. Sediment traps or ponds are used to contain mine process water and storm water on the mine site where the sediment is retained,

providing time for settling of suspended solids before the mine wastewater is discharged to downstream surface water. The settling ponds are designed to detain runoff from a 10-year, 24-hour storm event. *See* A.R., page 915.

Each permitted outfall is associated with a sediment pond. Influent flow to the sediment ponds consists of mine drainage, drainage from coal preparation and storage areas, and storm water. The sediment ponds collect and provide time for treatment through settling of suspended solids so that the mine's discharges will comply with federal Effluent Limitation Guidelines (ELGs) for the Coal Mining Point Source Category. *See* A.R., page 915; 40 CFR 434.11(h).

Under the 2012 Permit, discharges from the mine were permitted from 151 outfalls. *See* A.R., pages 957 - 962. The Permit authorizes discharges from the mine to East Fork Armells Creek, West Fork Armells Creek, Lee Coulee, Stocker Creek, Black Hank Creek, Donley Creek, Pony Creek, Cow Creek, and Spring Creek. West Fork Armells Creek, Stocker Creek, Black Hank Creek, and Donley Creek are tributaries to East Fork Armells Creek, which is a tributary to the Yellowstone River. Lee Coulee, Spring Creek, Cow Creek, and Pony Creek are tributaries to Rosebud Creek, which is also a tributary to the Yellowstone River. *See* A.R. at 916.

Planned discharges may occur from the outfalls at the mine, or unplanned discharges may occur at the mine when precipitation events cause the volume of runoff contained in the sediment ponds to exceed the 10-year, 24-hour storm event

design capacity causing pond overflow. Additionally, residual storm water or mine process water in a pond, may cause pond overflow during a precipitation event that is less than pond design capacity. *See* A.R. at 915 - 916. After active coal mining, the sediment ponds are reclaimed and outfalls are eliminated. *See* A.R., page 916.

Both the 1999 Permit and the 2012 Permit recognized that the waters directly receiving discharges from the mine are ephemeral. *See* A.R. at 2129 (public notice of reissuance of the Permit in 1999); at 2135 (statement of basis for the 1999 Permit); and at 916 (fact sheet for the 2012 Permit). The District Court noted that DEQ issued a tentative decision to renew the Permit on July 12, 2010, but the 2010 renewal was not finalized. *See* Order, Document Seq. No. 54, page 12. Instead, WECo submitted updated permit application materials and DEQ issued a revised tentative permit determination on May 11, 2012. The Permit was finalized on September 14, 2012, after public notice and comment. *See* A.R. at 805 (2012 Permit), 1901 (Public notice of tentative decision to renew the 2012 Permit), and 2067 (updated application from WECo).

WECo appealed the 2012 Permit renewal to the Board of Environmental Review (BER) based on DEQ's identification of twelve new outfalls as new or increased sources for purposes of nondegradation review. The appeal was resolved by a settlement between DEQ and WECo that resulted in Modification 1 of the 2012 Permit, effective September 8, 2014. Under Modification 1, four of the twelve new

source outfalls in the 2012 Permit were permitted as new sources, and the other eight were found to have been previously permitted in the 1999 Permit. *See* A.R. at 76, and at 79. After the 2014 modification of the Permit, only four of the 151 outfalls were new source outfalls, not previously permitted under the 1999 Permit, for purposes of nondegradation review.

On March 14, 2016, the District Court declared the Permit, as modified September 14, 2014, invalid. *See* Memorandum and Order on Judicial Review, Document Seq. No. 54, page 24. DEQ appeals: 1) the District Court's determination that recognition of ephemeral waters and application of the water quality standards in ARM 17.30.637(4) requires a use attainability analysis and stream reclassification; and 2) the District Court's determination that DEQ's authorization of representative monitoring of outfalls during precipitation-driven discharges at the Rosebud mine was arbitrary and capricious. Document Seq. No. 54, pages 18 – 24.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Review of Agency Decision.

The standard of review by which the Court must measure a final administrative agency decision that is not the product of a contested case is whether the decision was "arbitrary, capricious, unlawful, or not supported by substantial evidence." *See* Core-Mark International, Inc. v. Montana Board of Livestock, 2014 MT 197, ¶ 20; 376 Mont 25, 329 P.3d 1278 (July 24, 2014) (*citing* Clark Fork

Coalition v. Mont. Dep't. of Envtl. Quality, 2008 MT 407, ¶ 21; 347 Mont. 197; 197 P.3d 482). This case involves DEQ's administrative decision to renew the Permit. This matter does not involve rulemaking and is not a contested case. The Court must consider whether DEQ's administrative decision to renew the Permit was based on consideration of the relevant factors and whether there has been clear error of judgment. See Core-Mark at ¶ 37. The requirement to consider "relevant factors" relates to factors mandated by the statute and regulation at issue. *Id*. In this case, the Montana Water Quality Act (WQA), § 75-5-101, MCA et seq. and administrative rules adopted under the WQA at Title 17, chapter 30 constitute such relevant factors. This Court has further directed that its review of agency decisions is narrow, but the Court does not "automatically defer to the agency without carefully reviewing the record and satisfying themselves that the agency has made a reasoned decision." Clark Fork Coalition v. Mont. Dep't of Envtl. Quality, 2008 MT 407, ¶ 21; 347 Mont. 197, 203; 197 P.3d 482, 487 (citing <u>Friends of the Wild Swan v. DNRC, 2000</u> MT 209, ¶ 28; 301 Mont. 1; 6 P.3d 972).

2. Review of District Court Ruling on Motions for Summary Judgment This Court reviews the grant or denial of summary judgment de novo. See Clark Fork Coalition v. Dep't of Envtl. Quality, 2012 MT 240, ¶ 18; 366, Mont. 427, 433; 288 P.3d 183, 188. The Court must apply the same Rule 56, M.R.Civ.P. criteria as the District Court, and review the legal determinations of the District Court to

determine whether the District Court erred. <u>Johansen v. Department of Natural Resources and Conservation</u>, 1998 MT 51, ¶ 15; 288 Mont. 39; 955 P.2d 653 (1998).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The District Court erroneously determined that renewal of the Permit was unlawful because DEQ recognized the ephemeral nature of the C-3 classified waters receiving discharges from the Rosebud Mine without first conducting a use attainability analysis. DEQ's recognition of the ephemeral nature of receiving waters and application of its longstanding rule, ARM 17.30.637(4), is not a use reclassification. Under the plain language of ARM 17.30.637(4), DEQ is authorized to apply minimum treatment requirements and general prohibitions to discharges to ephemeral streams and the specific water quality standards set forth in ARM 17.30.620 through 17.30.629 do not apply.

Conditions and limitations in the Permit are based on the general prohibitions and treatment requirements in ARM 17.30.637 and applicable technology-based effluent limits. The Permit, as modified, contains numeric and narrative standards, minimum treatment requirements, standards of operation, and general prohibitions to restore and maintain water quality and protect existing and anticipated uses of the receiving water.

After considering the relevant information in the record, DEQ reasonably required representative monitoring of precipitation driven discharges from 20

percent of active outfalls at the Mine. DEQ renewed the Permit in accordance with the Montana WQA, consistent with rules adopted by the BER, and federal requirements. The Permit should be upheld and the District Court's Memorandum and Order on Judicial Review should be vacated.

ARGUMENTS

- I. The District Court erred to the extent it found DEQ's permitting decision under the Montana Water Quality Act applying water quality standards in ARM 17.30.637(4) to ephemeral receiving waters rather than the specific water quality standards set forth in ARM 17.30.629(2) to constitute an unlawful reclassification of C-3 waters.
 - A. <u>DEQ's recognition of the ephemeral nature of the receiving water is not a</u> use reclassification.

Pursuant to Section 402 of the federal Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. §1342), the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) approved the State of Montana's discharge permitting program and delegated authority to Montana, acting through DEQ, to issue discharge permits (MPDES permits) to control point source discharges of pollutants to surface water that are consistent and compatible with the Clean Water Act and federal regulations. 40 CFR Part 123; ARM 17.30.1301, et seq.; see also Memorandum of Agreement Between the State of Montana Department of Health and Environmental Sciences and the United States Environmental Protection Agency Region VIII (Memorandum of Agreement)

available at: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2013-09/documents/mt-moa-npdes.pdf (accessed June 12, 2018). Under Section 402 of the federal Clean Water Act, federal regulations, and the Memorandum of Agreement, EPA retains the right to review, comment on, or object to state-issued discharge permits. See 33 U.S.C. §1342, 40 CFR § 123.44, and the Memorandum of Agreement at page 6. The Memorandum of Agreement further provides that if the EPA fails to notify DEQ of objections to a permit within 90 days of EPA's receipt of a proposed permit from DEQ, the EPA is deemed to concur in the permit. See Memorandum of Agreement, pages 6 -7.

DEQ is entrusted with the authority to issue Montana Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permits under the Montana Water Quality Act. *See* §§ 75-5-211 & 75-5-401, MCA. DEQ must issue discharge permits in conformance with rules adopted by the BER. §§ 75-5-201, 75-5-401, MCA. As the District Court observed, the Montana WQA parallels many of the goals and requirements of the federal Clean Water Act (CWA). *See* Document Seq. No. 54, pages 3 - 4.

Under the Clean Water Act, there are two sets of water quality measures designed to "restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters." Arkansas v. Oklahoma, 503 U.S. 91, 101 (1992); 33 U.S.C. 1251(a). EPA promulgates technology-based effluent limits (TBELs) imposing restrictions that are specific to point source dischargers on the "quantities, rates, and

concentrations" of specific pollutants that are discharged. <u>Id.</u>; 33 U.S.C. 1311, 1314(b). The states are responsible for the adoption of water quality standards designed to protect the beneficial uses of state waters. 33 U.S.C. § 1313(c).

Both the Clean Water Act and WQA require point source dischargers to control pollutant discharges through compliance with effluent limitations and other conditions and requirements contained in discharge permits. § 75-5-401(1)(a), MCA; 33 U.S.C. § 1342; See also A.R., page 920. Technology-based treatment requirements, which form the basis of TBELs, represent the minimum level of control that must be imposed in a discharge permit. 40 CFR § 125.3. TBELs are designed to meet technology based standards and limitations set forth in federal regulations. Water quality based effluent limitations (WQBELs) are designed to meet state water quality standards. See 40 CFR § 122.44(a)(1); ARM 17.30.1344(2)(b). Dischargers are required to meet the applicable TBELs, which require implementation of technologies to treat pollutants, and any WOBELS necessary to protect beneficial uses of the receiving water if TBELs are not enough to meet applicable water quality standards. Natural Resources Defense Council v. United States EPA, 915 F.2d 1314, 1317 (9th Cir. 1990); 33 U.S.C. §§ 1312, 1313; 40 CFR § 122.44(d); ARM 17.30.1344(2)(b); See also A.R., page 929.

The applicable technology based effluent limit guidelines (ELGs) for coal mines are at 40 CFR Part 434. The ELGs found at 40 CFR 434 include: Subpart B

(coal preparation plants and areas associated with coal preparation plants); Subpart D (alkaline mine drainage exhibiting a pH greater than 6.0); Subpart F (miscellaneous including precipitation-driven discharges); and subpart H (western alkaline coal mining). A.R., pages 920 – 929.

The Rosebud mine discharges to receiving waters that are within the Yellowstone River drainage, between the Billings water supply intake and the North Dakota state line. A.R., page 80. The District Court found the record inconsistent as to applicable stream classification, but the receiving waters at issue are classified by Montana as C-3 and the administrative record consistently acknowledges and reflects this classification. Document Seq. No. 54, page 18; ARM 17.30.611(1)(c); A.R., pages 80, 930.

Waters classified by the state of Montana as C-3 are to be maintained to support the following beneficial uses: "bathing, swimming, and recreation, and growth and propagation of non-salmonid fishes and associated aquatic life, waterfowl and furbearers. The quality of these waters is naturally marginal for drinking, culinary, and food processing purposes, agriculture and industrial water supply." ARM 17.30.629(1).

The water quality criteria for C-3 waters is set forth in ARM 17.30.629(2). These water quality criteria serve as the basis for state permits incorporating WQBELs to support beneficial uses. 40 CFR § 131.2. However, where the

receiving waters meet the definition of "ephemeral" at ARM 17.30.602(12), the following water quality standards prescribed at ARM 17.30.637(4) apply regardless of the C-3 classification:

Treatment requirements for discharges to ephemeral streams must be no less than the minimum treatment requirements set forth in ARM 17.30.1203. Ephemeral streams are subject to ARM 17.30.635 through 17.30.637, 17.30.640, 17.30.641, 17.30.645, and 17.30.646 but not to the specific water quality standards of ARM 17.30.620 through 17.30.629.

ARM 17.30.637(4) (emphasis added).

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