IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA CASE Number: DA 18-0110

DA 18-0110

MONTANA ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION CENTER AND THE SIERRA CLUB, Plaintiffs-Appellees,

vs.

MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY, Defendant-Appellant,

and

WESTERN ENERGY COMPANY, Intervenor-Defendant-Appellant.

COMBINED RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES MONTANA ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION CENTER AND THE SIERRA CLUB

On appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County, Honorable Kathy Seeley, Presiding

SHILOH HERNANDEZ

Western Environmental Law

Center

103 Reeder's Alley

Helena, MT 59601

Attorney for Appellees

KIRSTEN H. BOWERS

EDWARD HAYES

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

5. Last, the Department's erroneous interpretation of the applicable rules is entitled to no deference. First, no deference is due an incorrect interpretation of law. Clark Fork I, ¶ 20. Second, the relevant rules were promulgated by the Board and EPA, not the Department; thus, no deference is due. Miccosukee Tribe, 2008 WL 2967654, at *31 n.60; Ritter, 33 F.3d at 327-28; accord N. Cheyenne Tribe, ¶¶ 25-45. Third, and most importantly, this Court should not defer to an interpretation that would defeat the Clean Water Act's objective of

restoring the integrity of our Nation's waters. Clark Fork I, ¶ 20; Dover Ranch, 187 Mont. at 283, 609 P.2d at 715; Dubois, 102 F.3d at 1299.

The Department's interpretation would exempt a polluter (WECo) from *any* water-quality-based pollution limitations where (1) receiving waters (East Fork Armells Creek) are impaired; (2) the polluter (WECo) is causing the impairment (indeed, WECo "obliterated" the creek); and (3) the Department's own analysis concluded that WQBELs on heavy metals were necessary to prevent further violations of water quality standards. AR1525-26, 1540-42; Doc. 35, Ex. 3 at 19-26. Instead, this Court should construe the law to further the remedial objectives of the Clean Water Act. *In re C.H.*, 2003 MT 308, ¶ 20, 318 Mont. 208, 79 P.3d 822.

- B. The Department's complete failure to take a hard look at the actual condition of the receiving waters before deeming them ephemeral was arbitrary and capricious.
- 1. The District Court correctly found that the Department's action was arbitrary because it failed to compile and analyze all relevant scientific data about the condition of the receiving waters. Doc. 54 at 19. This is an independent basis for affirming the District Court.

The Department must take a "hard look" at the environmental consequences of issuing a permit, which includes "mak[ing] an adequate compilation of relevant information, . . . analyz[ing] it reasonably, and ... consider[ing] all pertinent data." Clark Fork I, ¶ 47. In issuing WECo's permit, the Department merely asserted, without citing evidence, that "all permitted outfalls discharge to receiving streams that hydrologically meet the definition of ephemeral." AR80; AR930 (same). Therefore, the Department concluded, the streams "do not support beneficial uses." AR993. Yet the Department possessed decades' worth of studies dating from the 1980s, showing significant portions of these waters were not ephemeral. Doc. 35, Ex. 1 at 5-6, Ex. 6 at pdf. 4, Ex. 7 at 5-6; AR10-11. Then, after issuing the permit, the Department admitted in discovery it knew not all the receiving waters were ephemeral. Doc. 35, Ex. 11 at 8. Discovery further revealed WECo's pressuring the Department to declare the receiving waters ephemeral without conducting any study, for fear that a study would harm its strip-mining operations (i.e., lead to enforcement or pollution controls). Doc. 35, Ex. 8 at WECO513; Doc. 35, Ex. 10 at WECO599-600.

Ultimately, intentional or not, the Department's decision to deem all receiving waters ephemeral without conducting any study, compiling any evidence, or analyzing the abundant, contrary information in its own files was, like $Clark\ Fork\ I$, \P 47, arbitrary.

2. The Department's post hoc effort to point to one document (a water quality standards attainment record) that describes one receiving water, East Fork Armells Creek, as being ephemeral in 1992 cannot save the Department's arbitrary analysis. First, the post hoc argument—which appears nowhere in the record—is improper. *Motor Vehicle Mfrs.*, 463 U.S. at 50. Second, cherry-picking one document is not a "hard look"—which requires compiling and analyzing "all pertinent" information. Clark Fork I, ¶ 47. Third, the attainment record that the Department now cites states that the strip-mine "obliterated" portions of East Fork Armells Creek, which may have cause ephemeral conditions. AR1540. If the creek had been intermittent (and supporting aquatic life) before the mine destroyed it, aquatic life support would be an "existing use," 40 C.F.R. § 131.3(e) (existing uses are uses extant in 1975), which even the Board could not remove after completion of a UAA. Id. § 131.10(g) (existing uses may not be removed). Consequently,

even if the Department had relied on the attainment report prior to issuing the permit (it did not), it could not have served as a basis for reclassifying East Fork Armells Creek (let alone the other receiving waters) without further compilation and analysis of information. Clark Fork I, \P 47.

- 3. The Department's repeatedly shifting positions regarding the nature of East Fork Armells Creek demonstrate the wisdom of the UAA process and the District Court's ruling. A "structured scientific assessment" of receiving waters prior to any weakening of water quality standards assures that the integrity of Montana's waters is restored and maintained.
- II. The District Court correctly held that the Department's unlawful declaration that all receiving waters were ephemeral undermined the Department's establishment of all WQBELs.

The Department and WECo make much of the District Court's passing reference to TMDLs, but their criticisms miss the mark. While the Conservation Groups raised arguments regarding TMDLs and the Department's decision to allow WECo to discharge more pollution to impaired streams, the District Court avoided ruling on the issue. The District Court correctly recognized that because the erroneous

ephemeral reclassification undermined all pollution limits, it did not need to go any farther. Doc. 54 at 19. This was a deft display of judicial avoidance. The District Court committed no error.

- III. The District Court correctly ruled that the Department acted unlawfully and arbitrarily when it did not require WECo to monitor precipitation-driven pollution discharges from 131 of the strip-mine's 151 outfalls.
 - A. By not requiring monitoring at each outfall, the permit cannot assure that pollution discharged from unmonitored outfalls will comply with pollution limits under the Clean Water Act.
- 1. "First and foremost, the Clean Water Act requires every NPDES permittee to monitor its discharges into the navigable waters of the United States in a manner sufficient to determine whether it is in compliance with the relevant NPDES permit." NRDC v. County of Los Angeles, 725 F.3d 1194, 1207 (9th Cir. 2013) (emphasis in original); 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a)(2). To assure compliance, Clean Water Act requires monitoring at "each outfall." 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.44(i)(1)(ii), 122.45(a).

The Department's decision to exempt WECo from monitoring precipitation-driven pollution discharges—the most common type of discharge at the strip-mine, AR94, AR229, AR2098—at 131 of 151 outfalls makes the permit *incapable* of assuring compliance, in violation

of both the plain language and the spirit of the Clean Water Act. See N.

Cheyenne Tribe, ¶ 19; Clark Fork I, ¶ 20.

2. The Department's reliance on regulations requiring that "[s]amples and measurements taken for the purpose of monitoring must be representative of the monitored activity" is misplaced. DEQ Br. at 22 (citing ARM 17.30.1342(10)); see also 40 C.F.R. § 122.41(j). That provision about accurate sampling says nothing about allowing monitoring at representative locations.

Clean Water Act regulations permit sampling at "representative" "locations," (i.e., not every location) only for "large and medium municipal separate storm sewer discharges," which must submit information explaining why locations are representative. Id.

§ 122.26(d)(2)(iii)(D) (emphasis added). This allowance is justified for large municipal sewer systems, like that of Los Angeles, where "no one knows the exact size" of the system and the "number and location of storm drains and outfalls are too numerous to catalog." NRDC, 725 F.3d at 1198. This express allowance of monitoring at representative locations for large municipal sewers indicates that it is not allowed for other dischargers, like WECo. See Dukes v. City of Missoula, 2005 MT

- 196, ¶ 15, 328 Mont. 115, 119 P.3d 61 ("expresio unius est exclusio alterius"). For this reason, the Department's reliance (DEQ Br. at 21-22) on Maryland Department of the Environment v. Riverkeeper is inapposite, as that case involved the unique regulations that allow monitoring at representative locations for large municipal sewer systems, not strip-mines. 134 A.3d 892, 896, 923-24 (Md. 2016).
- 3. WECo's argument about the "need to obtain reliable data" is disingenuous. WECo Br. at 41. WECo has a record of "significant noncompliance" with monitoring requirements. AR913, 918. Moreover, the record shows WECo could monitor precipitation-driven discharges from all outfalls by hiring an employee, AR1624, AR1783, or installing remote sampling equipment, Doc. 35, Ex. 3 at 36, or both. But the coal company was worried that monitoring would lead to enforcement, AR1783-84, and expense, AR1624. Not obtaining data by not monitoring does not lead to the "obtain[ing] [of] reliable data." As the District Court explained, "deference . . . to the logistical issues raised by WEC[o]" was not a lawful basis for exempting the strip-mine from monitoring pollution at over 80% of its outfalls. Doc. 54 at 23.

4. WECo's citation to *In re Peabody Western Coal Co.*, 15 E.A.D.

406, 2011 WL 3881508, **13-14 (EPA Aug. 31, 2011), is inapposite.

WECo Br. at 44-45. That case addressed *only* whether EPA had improperly granted a "monitoring waiver" under 40 C.F.R.

§ 122.44(a)(2)(iii)-(iv). EPA's Environmental Appeals Board (EAB) ruled that EPA had not granted a waiver, but noted that it was *not* addressing the argument the Department and WECo offer here: whether the requirement that sampling be "representative" allows monitoring at *representative locations*. 2011 WL 3881508 at *14 & n.29.

Monitoring is the principal way the Clean Water Act assures compliance. See NRDC, 725 F.3d at 1207. By exempting WECo from monitoring precipitation-driven pollution discharges at 131 of 151 outfalls, the Department effectively and unlawfully exempted the vast majority of the strip-mine from compliance with the Clean Water Act. This is an independent basis for affirming the District Court.

- B. The Department's unsupported and incoherent "representative" monitoring scheme was arbitrary and capricious.
- 1. The District Court correctly rejected the Department's representative monitoring scheme as unsupported by information or

analysis. Doc. 54 at 23. On appeal, the Department cites only the permit fact sheet's conclusory statement that

[d]ischarges consisting of stormwater runoff from areas classified as "Alkaline Mine Drainage" (40 CFR 434 Subpart D) are materially similar in terms of activities taking place in each area, the characteristics of soil types present, the expected runoff pollutant concentrations, the type of stormwater treatment, and the best management practices employed.

AR90, cited in DEQ Br. at 20-21. Neither the Department nor WECo presented any evidence or any analysis to support these bare-bones assertions.

2. In fact, the statements from the permit fact sheet about the supposed similarity of discharges are *contradicted* by the record. First, not all outfalls selected to be "representative" are from areas "classified as 'Alkaline Mine Drainage," i.e., from areas of active mining. Outfall 83, the only outfall selected for monitoring precipitation-driven discharges in *any* of the four tributaries to Rosebud Creek (WECo has eight pollution outfalls from active mining to these tributaries),³ is not an outfall from active mining operations (but from reclamation

³ Outfalls 80, 130, 130A, 130B, 131, 131A, 132, 134 discharge pollution from active mining operations into Spring Creek and Lee Coulee. AR20-21, 36-38.

operations) and, illogically, is not even subject to *monitoring* under the permit. AR35. WECo asserted it cannot comply with salinity limits for the Rosebud Creek tributaries—yet its pollution there is unmonitored. AR1891.

Second, "representative" and non-representative, unmonitored outfalls do not discharge at the same frequency, and discharges are not the same quality. The 2010 draft permit, which required monitoring at all outfalls, recognized this when it noted that isolated rainstorms might only affect small portions of the sprawling mine. Doc. 35, Ex. 3 at 36. Historic monitoring in the record illustrates this. From 2008 to 2011, there were numerous discharges from outfalls 30, 32, 70, and 119 in Stocker Creek, occasionally violating permit limits. AR808-10, AR1841; AR:2098-100. However, during this same period, there were zero discharges from outfalls 35 and 75, the two "representative" outfalls" located in Stocker Creek. AR35, AR2098-2100. The record similarly shows that pollution concentrations at outfalls vary dramatically. In May 2011, outfall 95, which is supposedly "representative," and outfall 100, which would not be monitored, both had precipitation-driven discharges from Area C West into West Fork

Armells Creek. AR810; AR2099. The level of iron pollution in non-representative outfall 100 (88.8 mg/L), which violated pollution limits, was an order of magnitude higher than the level in "representative" outfall 95 (5.4 mg/L), which did not violate pollution limits (7.0 mg/L). AR1840, AR2099. There was plainly a problem at outfall 100, but monitoring at outfall 95 would not have identified it, demonstrating that the Department's "representative" monitoring scheme cannot assure compliance. *Contra* 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a)(2).

3. The Department does not, in fact, intend for the "representative" outfalls to be a means of ensuring compliance. In the Department's words, discharges from "representative" outfalls "are not linked to or associated with any of the non-representative outfalls." AR1005. Thus, the Department does not consider a violation at a representative outfall to indicate a violation at any non-representative outfalls. AR1006. This defeats the purpose of monitoring—to assure compliance and assure measures are taken to correct non-compliance. It also creates a loophole that would allow WECo to evade the requirements of the Clean Water Act—the company could pump water from settling ponds behind representative outfalls and store it in

settling ponds behind non-representative outfalls so that during precipitation events the former monitored outfalls do not discharge, but the latter unmonitored outfalls do. The representative monitoring requirement of 40 C.F.R. § 122.41(j) should not be interpreted to defeat the goals of the Clean Water Act. Or. State Pub. Interest Research Grp., Inc. v. Pac. Coast Seafoods Co., No. CIV 02-924-HA, 2006 WL 2938834, at *1 (D. Or. Sept. 26, 2006) (refusing to construe representative monitoring to allow permittee to "manipulate the sampling" to evade pollution limitations); Dubois, 102 F.3d at 1299 (refusing to interpret Clean Water Act in way that undermines its goals).

IV. WECo's remaining arguments have no merit.

A. WECo's mootness argument has not merit.

At no point below did WECo argue about mootness. Having not raised the issue below, WECo may not raise it now. *Nelson*, ¶ 13. Moreover, the permit modification in 2014 only *modified* the 2012 permit—it did not replace it. Further, the 2014 modification did not address the issues the Conservation Groups raised with the 2012 permit (though the groups dutifully raised them again), and the Department refused to address those issues on the basis that they were

not part of the 2014 modification. AR10-11 (regarding ephemeral reclassification), 12-13 (regarding monitoring). Because the underlying 2012 permit was unlawful, the District Court appropriately set aside the 2012 permit and the 2014 modification, which repeated the errors of the 2012 permit and could not stand on its own.

B. WECo's belated objections to the administrative record are improper.

Nor may WECo raise for the first time on appeal objections to the administrative record compiled by the Department. *Nelson*, ¶ 13. WECo did not object to the record or any evidence below, but instead moved for summary judgment. Having lost summary judgment, WECo should not now get a second bite at the apple by claiming that the administrative record was inadequate. *Ryffel Family P'ship v. Alpine Country Constr.*, *Inc.*, 2016 MT 350, ¶ 24, 386 Mont. 165, 386 P.3d 971 ("We will not unfairly fault a trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue that it was not asked to consider.").

C. The District Court did not impose any discharge limits, but remanded to the Department.

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